2
S180661

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

SETH CRAVENS,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. _____ SUPREME COURT
FILED

SEP 24 2010

Frederick K. Ohirich Clerk

Deputy

Appellate District Division One, Case No. D054613
San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCD206917
The Honorable John S. Einhorn, Judge

RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

EDMUND G. BROWN JR.
Attorney General of California
DANE R. GILLETTE
Chief Assistant Attorney General
GARY W. SCHONS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
LILIA E. GARCIA
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
JEFFREY J. KOCH
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 97657

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the appellate court abuse its limited authority to review for the sufficiency of the evidence where it found “no evidence” to support the jury’s implied malice murder verdict and then fashioned an “expanded” version of voluntary manslaughter to affix liability?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant and his close friends grew up in the San Diego beach suburb of La Jolla and developed a perverse sense of propriety about the community. (9 RT 701, 822.) They felt they owned the town and could do whatever they wanted with impunity. They called themselves the Birdrock Bandits. (11 RT 1064.) Appellant, a 240 pound former football player, was the leader of the group and developed a history of violence. (9 RT 717.) He repeatedly attacked men and women whenever he felt that he or his friends were directed, challenged, disrespected, or insulted. Along with these attacks came words that indicated Cravens intended to do serious harm to people or even kill them. (10 RT 907-908; 11 RT 1141; 12 RT 1315-1316.) This was the way appellant regularly conducted himself. He would confront people he did not like on the streets, in their homes, at parties he and his friends crashed, and on the beach and attack them. It did not matter if appellant knew the people or if they were total strangers, if

they were young or old, male or even a teenage girl. (11 RT 1043, 1063; 12 RT 1235.) Appellant and his friends would beat people to the ground and stomp on their faces. (12 RT 1287.) Appellant would curse and yell "I'm going to kill you." (10 RT 907-908; 11 RT 1141; 12 RT 1315-1316.) In more than one instance, appellant delivered powerful sucker punches to the heads of his opponents in circumstances that demonstrated he had conscious disregard for their lives. (13 RT 1368, 1370, 1374.)

One night in May 2007, professional surfer Emery Kauanui, attended a party at the La Jolla Brew House, a few blocks away from his house, with his girlfriend, Jennifer. Kauanui drank with friends and eventually became intoxicated. Alcohol made Kauanui lighthearted and goofy. (6 RT 238.) This night was no exception; he was cheerful and really happy. (6 RT 225.) Late in the evening, appellant and his Birdrock Bandits friends arrived at the party. Jennifer knew all of them and greeted them and even gave appellant a hug. Thereafter Kauanui and his friends and appellant and his friends intermingled. It was close quarters and everyone was elbow to elbow. Kauanui held a drink in his hand as he danced with Jennifer and he accidentally spilled some of it on Eric House, one of appellant's friends. (6 RT 228.) Suddenly, there was tension. House and then appellant told Kauanui to watch out because House could knock him out with one punch, and "beat your ass." (6 RT 229.) A bar manager came over to see what was going on but House assured him there was nothing to worry about because they were all friends. (6 RT 303.) Later, however, there was a confrontation between Kauanui and appellant and his friends that escalated to the point where bartenders had to intervene. (6 RT 229, 304.) The bar manager told everyone to leave. Kauanui was calm and acted normally but was confused about why he was being asked to leave. He also told the manager he was concerned about being "jumped." (6 RT 307-309.)

Kauanui and Jennifer left the bar, followed by appellant and his friends. Outside, Kauanui and House confronted each other again and taunted each other with boasts about who could “beat each other’s ass.” (6 RT 231-235.) Jennifer grabbed Kauanui, led him to his car, and drove him home. On the way, Kauanui spoke on his cell phone to someone in a confrontational manner saying, “If you want to fight me one on one, I’ll fight you.” (6 RT 236-237.) Jennifer remonstrated Kauanui about his behavior and he immediately became apologetic and really calm. Kauanui asked Jennifer to stay with him and she agreed, but she first had to return on foot to the brew house to retrieve her car. (6 RT 238-242.)

It was the middle of the night and Jennifer jogged back to the parking lot by the brew house. When she arrived, she saw appellant and his friends were still there; they were plotting. Appellant said they should go to Kauanui’s house and “fuck him up.” Appellant said, “Don’t call him. I know where he lives. Let’s go fuck him up.” (6 RT 242.) Jennifer yelled at appellant thinking she could dissuade him but he ignored her and he and his friends jumped in an SUV and drove to Kauanui’s house. (2 RT 243, 245.) Jennifer tried to call Kauanui but his line was busy. She looked in the bar and saw two of Kauanui’s friends and told them to help because she thought Kauanui was going to get jumped. She then ran to her car and drove back to Kauanui’s house as fast as she could. She was one to two minutes behind appellant and his friends. (6 RT 244, 246.)

When appellant and his friends arrived at Kauanui’s house, Kauanui was agitated and readily met Eric House’s challenge in the street. They fought but, when Kauanui, despite his intoxication, got the better of House, appellant’s friends ganged up on Kauanui in what one witness described as a “rugby scrum” and hit and kicked him to the ground. (6 RT 348-349; 3 RT 382-387.) Appellant stood out of the roadway by a cement sidewalk. (6 RT 257.) By this time, Kauanui’s girlfriend got back to the scene and

ran to his aid, and Kauanui was able to get to his feet. Then, with his arms by his side, he approached appellant. Although he cursed, there was nothing aggressive in his behavior or demeanor. Kauanui asked appellant how he could come to his house and challenge him. Without warning, appellant came “flying out” off the sidewalk and sucker punched Kauanui in the head with a blow witnesses described as one of the most powerful they had ever seen. (6 RT 257; 7 RT 387, 393; 8 RT 630-631.) The blow “coldcocked” Kauanui and knocked him instantly unconscious. (8 RT 630-631.) Kauanui did nothing to break his fall and fell straight back. He dropped to the concrete and smashed in the back of his head on the concrete curb resulting in an audible crack. (6 RT 258; 7 RT 394, 388; 8 RT 629.) As he lay on the street and blood poured out of his head, two of appellant’s friends went up to Kauanui and kicked him in the side. (6 RT 258-259.) Appellant and his friends then jumped back in the SUV and fled the scene before the police arrived seconds later. An ambulance rushed Kauanui to a hospital and it looked initially like he might recover. The next day, appellant laughed about Kauanui’s situation and boasted that he had knocked him out with one punch and put him to sleep. (9 RT 693-694.) Days later, Kauanui’s condition worsened and he died from his head injury. (12 RT 1333-1335.)

The San Diego County District Attorney charged appellant with second-degree murder based on a theory of implied malice (Pen. Code, § 187), along with numerous other charges relating to appellant’s and the Birdrock Bandits’s criminal threats (Pen. Code, § 422), battery (Pen. Code, § 242), and assaults by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury (Pen. Code, § 245, subd. (a)(1)) with allegations of the personal infliction of great bodily injury (Pen. Code, § 12022.7, subd. (a)), against other people in La Jolla. The jury heard testimony from multiple percipient witnesses to the attack on Kauanui, and witnesses and victims to numerous

other assaults committed by appellant and his friends in the years preceding Kauanui's death. The trial court instructed the jury on the general principles of homicide, justifiable homicide, excusable homicide, murder with malice aforethought, voluntary manslaughter with heat of passion, voluntary manslaughter with imperfect self defense, and involuntary manslaughter. (3 CT 651-662.) The jury returned a verdict of second degree murder in the death of Emery Kauanui, found appellant guilty of one count of making a criminal threat, four counts of assault by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury with true findings of the personal infliction of great bodily injury, and one count of battery. The jury found appellant not guilty of two other counts of assault by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury, and one other count of battery. (5 CT 1139-1148.)

After the defense motion for new trial or modification of the verdict, the trial court sentenced appellant to a term in state prison of 15 years-to-life for the murder of Kauanui in Count 12, plus a consecutive 5 year determinate term (2 year lower term for assault by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury plus 3 years for the great bodily injury enhancement) for the attack on Michael Johnson in Count 11. (4 CT 1001-1004; 5 CT 1151-1152.)

On appeal, appellant contended the evidence was insufficient to sustain the second-degree murder conviction. He also argued, on the basis of *People v. Garcia* (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 18, that the trial court erred by not, sua sponte, instructing the jury that an unintentional killing, without malice, during the course of an inherently dangerous assaultive felony constituted voluntary manslaughter.¹ Although noting the well-settled

¹ In *Garcia*, the defendant struck the victim in the face with the butt of a shotgun, causing him to fall to the sidewalk and hit his head, resulting
(continued...)

principle that, in determining whether a reasonable trier of fact could have found a defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, an appellate court must view the evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution, and presume in support of the judgment the existence of every fact the trier could reasonably deduce from the evidence, the Court of Appeal ruled there was basically no evidence to support the jury's implied malice finding and therefore that the evidence was insufficient to support the second degree murder conviction. (Slip Opn., at pp. 32-36.) The court discussed this Court's decision in *People v. Knoller* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 139, and recognized that the subjective component of implied malice is satisfied when a defendant appreciates that his action will endanger the life of another but goes ahead and does it anyway. (Slip Opn., at pp. 31-32.) However, the Court of Appeal re-examined the evidence and concluded that the single blow to the head delivered by appellant did not involve a high probability of death simply because it occurred on a pavement, and that appellant's realization that Kauanui would fall and hit his head on the

(...continued)

in his death. The defendant was convicted of voluntary manslaughter and asserted on appeal that the trial court erred in failing to instruct on involuntary manslaughter. (*People v. Garcia, supra*, 162 Cal.App.4th at p. 24.) The *Garcia* court, after reviewing the case law predating and following *People v. Cameron* (1994) 30 Cal.App.4th 591, concluded "an unlawful killing during the commission of an inherently dangerous felony, even if unintentional, is a least voluntary manslaughter." (*Garcia*, at p. 31.) The court reasoned absent proof of malice, whether because of provocation or unreasonable self-defense "or because of an absence of proof that 'the circumstances attending the killing show[ed] an abandoned and malignant heart,'" the defendant in that case committed some form of manslaughter. (*Id.* at p. 32.) Further, because the defendant had caused the victim's death in the commission of an inherently dangerous felony rather than a dangerous misdemeanor, and because it was not the result of criminal negligence, the killing was properly classified as voluntary manslaughter. (*Id.* at p. 33.)

cement curb, evidenced a mere awareness of a risk of serious bodily injury, not conscious disregard for life. The court dismissed prior incidents of appellant assaulting people as irrelevant to the question of whether appellant knew his act of delivering a single punch to Kauanui's head endangered his life, and did not find that the gang attack on Kauanui demonstrated aggravating circumstances that supported a finding of implied malice. (Slip Opn., at pp. 32-36.)

The Court of Appeal found there was insufficient evidence of implied malice to support appellant's second-degree murder conviction. The court then expanded the holding of *People v. Garcia, supra*, and ruled that an unintentional killing, without malice, resulting from the commission of a felony assault or battery, was another circumstance to support voluntary manslaughter and reduced appellant's crime to that offense. In reaching this conclusion, the court reviewed the same evidence that the jury did but concluded that it supported only a voluntary manslaughter verdict. (Slip Opn., at pp. 36-49.)

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

Review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision and to settle important questions of law as to whether an appellate court can overrule a jury's determination and find insufficient evidence of second degree murder, based on implied malice, and fashion a new doctrine to justify a conviction of voluntary manslaughter. Appellant, the combative leader of a group of young men who called themselves the Birdrock Bandits, had a long history of committing serious bodily injuries on various individuals in the beach community of La Jolla in San Diego County. In this case, appellant organized a group attack on an inebriated acquaintance, professional surfer Emery Kauanui, and then sucker punched him over a concrete sidewalk with such force that Kauanui was instantly knocked

unconscious and fell back onto a concrete curb, smashing his head open and causing his death in a hospital four days later.

The defense moved for acquittal of the second degree murder charge in Count 12 for the death of Emery Kauanui. (2 CT 507-517; 5 CT 1121.) The defense argued in essence that there was no evidence of implied malice because the evidence showed that appellant did not know that his single punch to Kauanui's head could cause death. (14 RT 1719-1722.) The defense also argued there was insufficient evidence to justify voluntary manslaughter. (14 RT 1722-1725.) The court then asked the prosecutor: "If we're using *Knoller* and there is essentially an objective and subjective series of elements required, explain to me the underlying fact that would support the subjective test that what Mr. Cravens did was with knowledge that it could cause lost of life." (14 RT 1725.) The prosecutor addressed the court's comment and reviewed the testimony of several witnesses. (14 RT 1725-1731.) The court then specifically asked the prosecutor: "Where is the evidence to support *Knoller* when it requires that you prove that Mr. Cravens acted with conscious disregard of the danger to human life?" (14 RT 1731.) The prosecutor responded that appellant's act in punching Kauanui was purposeful, not accidental, and not done in self-defense. (14 RT 1731.) The prosecutor also argued that appellant knew his own strength and its potential because of all the previous incidents where he had attacked people. (14 RT 1732.) She argued that appellant knew Kauanui was tired having already been beaten and pummeled by the group attack, and was aware that his punch would send him to the ground; a concrete sidewalk. (14 RT 1732-1733.) The defense then reasserted its argument that there was basically "no evidence whatsoever that Mr. Cravens knew that one punch with his left hand could kill someone. And that's what the law requires, no more, no less." (14 RT 1734.)

The trial court commented before denying the defense motion:

Were it that simple, I would grant your motion. But there is sufficient evidence on a disputed series of facts as to what happened that preceded the - - the punch. And if the prosecution's theory is a continuous set of actions in which Mr. Cravens participated resulting finally in the - - the single blow that Mr. Cravens administered, which ultimately caused the death of Mr. Kauanui, it is a question of fact to be decided by this jury.

(14 RT 1734-35.)

The trial court instructed the jury on the general principles of homicide (CALCRIM No. 500; 3 CT 651), justifiable homicide: self-defense or defense of another (CALCRIM No. 505; 3 CT 652-653), excusable homicide: accident in the heat of passion (CALCRIM No. 511; 3 CT 654-655), murder with malice aforethought (CALCRIM No. 520; 3 CT 656), voluntary manslaughter: heat of passion – lesser included offense (CALCRIM No. 570; 3 CT 657-658), voluntary manslaughter: imperfect self-defense – lesser included offense (CALCRIM No. 571; 3 CT 659-660), and involuntary manslaughter (CALCRIM No. 580; 3 CT 661-662). The prosecution argued the evidence showed second degree murder because appellant, who had demonstrated his aggressiveness and combativeness by assaulting numerous people over the years he lived in La Jolla, deliberately hit Kauanui as part of a group attack with such great force and under such dangerous circumstances that Cravens surely knew his conduct endangered Kauanui's life but did so anyway. (See 15 RT 1839-1842.) The defense argued that Kauanui was the aggressor and that appellant hit him in self-defense, and used no more force than was necessary to fend off Kauanui's imminent attack. The defense also argued that appellant did not act with conscious disregard for human life because he struck Kauanui with his non-dominant hand and did not realize that his one punch could be life threatening. (16 RT 1861-1862.)

The jury deliberated on this case for several days and sent out numerous questions and read back requests. It then announced that it could not reach a unanimous verdict on the murder charge. The trial court ordered the jury to continue deliberations, more jury questions were asked and answered, and the jury returned a second degree murder guilty verdict the next day, along with a majority of guilty verdicts for the remaining charges. (5 CT 1128-1137.) Thus, the jury thoroughly considered the evidence and was properly instructed. The jury decided unanimously that appellant subjectively appreciated that, when he delivered the sucker punch haymaker to Kauanui's head over a concrete sidewalk after Kauanui had just suffered a gang beating by appellant's cohorts, he risked killing him.

There was both evidentiary and legal support for the jury's second degree murder verdict. While normally hitting a person with hands or feet does not constitute murder, murder does occur when there is either an intent to kill or such wanton and brutal use of the hands without provocation as to indicate they would cause death. (See *People v. Spring* (1984) 153 Cal.App.3d 1199, 1205; *People v. Teixeira* (1955) 136 Cal.App.2d 136, 150.) Where there are aggravating circumstances, there can be implied malice if the blows causing death are inflicted by a fist. (See *People v. Munn* (1884) 65 Cal. 211, 213.) Moreover, a single punch delivered upon a concrete wall is sufficient to warrant a murder charge due to the obvious fact that a fall on the concrete can bear deadly consequences if known by the defendant under the circumstances. (See *People v. Efstathiou* (1941) 47 Cal.App.2d 441, 443.) As this Court has held, the evidentiary linchpin of implied malice murder is the defendant's subjective appreciation that his deliberate conduct endangered the life of another and that the defendant acted with conscious disregard for life. (See *People v. Knoller, supra*, 41 Cal.4th at p. 151; *People v. Blakely* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 82, 87.) In nearly all cases, implied malice is determined based on circumstantial evidence and

inferences the trier of fact draws from those circumstances. It is unnecessary that implied malice be proven by an admission or other direct evidence of the defendant's mental state; like all other elements of a crime, implied malice may be proven by circumstantial evidence. (*People v. James* (1998) 62 Cal.App.4th 244, 277.) “[A] conviction for second degree murder, based on a theory of implied malice, requires proof that a defendant acted with conscious disregard of the danger to human life.” (*People v. Knoller, supra*, 41 Cal.4th at p. 156.) “In short, implied malice requires a defendant's awareness of engaging in conduct that endangers the life of another-no more, and no less.” (*Id.* at p. 143.)

In the instant case, there was evidence from multiple percipient witnesses to appellant's assault on Kauanui which demonstrated that it was part of a group attack and occurred during circumstances which showed appellant's conscious disregard for Kauanui's life, and evidence from witnesses and victims to numerous other assaults committed by appellant and his friends in the years preceding Kauanui's death.

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