S186661

SUPREME COURT NO.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

SETH CRAVENS, Defendant and Appellant. Court of Appeal No. D054613

Superior Court No. SCD206917

SUPREME COURT

OCT 1 2 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY

Deputy

Honorable John S. Einhorn, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW; STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL ISSUES SHOULD REVIEW BE GRANTED

> Randall Bookout Attorney at Law State Bar No. 131821

Post Office Box 181050 Coronado, CA 92178 (619) 857-4432

By appointment of the Court of Appeal under the Appellate Defenders, Inc., independent case program

•
		•
		•
		·
		•
		•
		•
		•
		•
·		
		•
		•

SUPREME COURT NO.	
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE S	TATE OF CALIFORNIA
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF	

CALIFORNIA,
Plaintiff and Respondent,

Court of Appeal No. D054613

vs.

Superior Court No. SCD206917

SETH CRAVENS, Defendant and Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY

Honorable John S. Einhorn, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW; STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL ISSUES SHOULD REVIEW BE GRANTED

TO THE HONORABLE RONALD M. GEORGE, CHIEF JUSTICE, AND TO THE HONORABLE ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA:

Pursuant to rule 8.500(a)(2) of the California Rules of Court, appellant below, Seth Cravens, respectfully files this answer to the Attorney General's petition for review, along with a statement of additional issues should review be granted. Appellant Cravens is not otherwise asking this court to review his case.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. The Court of Appeal's Finding Insufficient Evidence of Implied Malice When Appellant Threw a Single Punch With his Non-dominant Hand at a Professional Athlete Presents No Issue for This Court to Review

Respondent phrases the issue presented as whether the Court of

Appeal "abused its limited authority" when it found no evidence of implied malice and "then fashioned an 'expanded' version of voluntary manslaughter to affix liability." (Petition for Review [hereafter, PTR], p. 1.) Respondent elsewhere asserts, "The appellate court's betrayal of its duty to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict is further evidenced by its overreach in expanding the law of voluntary manslaughter in order to reach a level of conviction the appellate court thought proper." (PTR p. 12.) This is not, however, one issue, but two entirely separate questions. If there was insufficient evidence of implied malice, the second degree murder conviction must be reversed, regardless of whether the Court of Appeal may or may not have erred when it "fashioned an 'expanded' version of voluntary manslaughter." Since it appears clear the gravamen of respondent's complaint is the appellate

¹The parties will be referred to as "appellant" and "respondent" as they were before the Court of Appeal.

court's finding insufficient evidence of implied malice to sustain the murder conviction, appellant will address that issue in this answer.

Respondent asserts review should be granted to determine "whether an appellate court can overrule a jury's determination and find insufficient evidence of second degree murder, based on implied malice" (PTR p. 7.) The simple and uncontroversial answer is, "Of course it can." As will be demonstrated below, *nowhere* does respondent demonstrate the Court of Appeal employed an incorrect legal standard in finding insufficient evidence of implied malice. The Court of Appeal's conclusion was the result of a fact-driven inquiry, and is simply the conclusion respondent would prefer the court had not reached.

Under the circumstances, review by this court is hardly "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law."

(Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The policy of preserving scarce judicial resources extends to appellate resources (*In re Z.N.* (2009) 181

Cal.App.4th 282, 302), and there is no good reason for this court to waste its scarce resources reviewing this unpublished opinion.

B. Respondent Appears to Concede the Court of Appeal Employed the Correct Legal Standards in Analyzing the Sufficiency of Evidence of Implied Malice

The ultimate rationale behind respondent's position is that once a

jury has found sufficient evidence of a given offense, an appellate court can *never* reach a contrary determination. This must be respondent's position, because in the petition for review, respondent fails to demonstrate the Court of Appeal made any legal error in analyzing the evidence of implied malice presented at appellant's trial, and fails to adduce any facts the Court of Appeal neglected to consider in reaching its conclusion. The reason for respondent's omissions is simple: the court made no legal error and considered all the evidence.

In its opinion, the Court of Appeal engaged in an extensive discussion of the rules governing appellate review of evidentiary sufficiency and especially of case law concerning implied malice, with special attention rightly given to this court's opinion in *People v. Knoller* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 139. (Opn., pp. 27-32.) Nowhere does respondent contend the court misstated the law regarding implied malice, and, while respondent claims the court's "decision represents a de novo review of the evidence and does not give proper deference to the factual determinations made by the jury" (PTR p. 12), nowhere does respondent claim the Court of Appeal misstated the law governing its review of evidentiary

sufficiency.2

The Court of Appeal correctly concluded there was no evidence appellant consciously disregarded a risk to the victim's life when he threw a single punch. Respondent states, "To conclude, as did the court of Appeal, that there was basically no evidence of implied malice, is the equivalent of arguing that gravity does not exist because it cannot be seen." (PTR p. 12.) The comparison is inapt but telling. It can be stated with certainty that gravity exists because evidence of its existence is everywhere.

²At first glance, the only thing that may be potentially confusing regarding the legal standards the court employed in analyzing the evidence of implied malice is where respondent states, "the Court of Appeal reexamined the evidence and concluded that the single blow to the head delivered by appellant did not involve a high probability of death simply because it occurred on a pavement" (PTR p. 6.) The opinion does in fact refer to a "high degree of probability" of death (the so-called Thomas test discussed in Knoller) (Opn. pp. 29-31), though not in the context of repeating the incorrect test for implied malice employed by the trial court in granting a new trial motion in *Knoller*--which was whether the defendant subjectively knew there was a high probability her conduct would result in death (People v. Knoller, supra, 41 Cal.4th at p. 157)--and respondent does not claim that it did. The opinion correctly states while *Knoller* clarified that a defendant need not know as a subjective matter there was a high probability the conduct would result in death, *Knoller* "did not disapprove use of the 'high probability of death' test for the *objective* component of implied malice." (Opn., p. 31, italics in original.) The Court of Appeal's Knoller discussion is accurate, and in any event, whatever quantum of probability may be required for the objective component of implied malice, it has to be far more than the statistically insignificant possibility that a young male throwing a single punch at another young male, a professional athlete, will result in a death.

It can also be stated with certainty that evidence of implied malice did not exist in appellant's trial because evidence of it was nowhere--and respondent fails to point to any here. The ultimate premise behind the Attorney General's position is that an appellate court can *never* legitimately find insufficient evidence of an element of a criminal offense when a jury has found otherwise, but that is fortunately not the state of the law.

C. There Are Numerous Factual Errors of Both Commission and Omission in the Petition for Review

As indicated above, the Court of Appeal's conclusion was based on a fact-driven inquiry regarding the sufficiency of the evidence. Because of this, it is important to correct potentially misleading statements in the petition, and to add vital facts respondent omits.

At trial and on appeal, the People repeatedly argued appellant's commission of other assaults somehow constituted evidence of implied malice supporting a murder conviction,³ a refrain continued in the petition for review: "Along with these attacks came words that indicated Cravens intended to do serious harm to people or even kill them" (PTR p. 1); "Appellant and his friends would beat people to the ground and stomp on

³Appellant does, however, believe evidence concerning these other assaults--none of which had resulted in arrest, much less prosecution--prejudiced the jury into returning a murder verdict despite the lack of evidence to support it. See issue III (A) below.

their faces" (PTR p. 2); "In more than one instance, appellant delivered powerful sucker punches to the heads of his opponents in circumstances that demonstrated he had conscious disregard for their lives" (PTR p. 2); "Appellant . . . had a long history of committing serious bodily injuries on various individuals" (PTR p. 7).

Had even one of these victims ended up with even a remotely life-threatening injury, respondent might have a point, but just the opposite is true. The *worst* injury appellant had previously inflicted was an apparently broken nose--and even that was unclear because the victim left the hospital before a CAT scan could be taken (13 RT 1407)--and *none* of injuries were, as correctly noted in the opinion, "even close to being life-threatening." (Opn., p. 34.) In other words, as the opinion concludes, "The evidence that Cravens had previously punched multiple people in the face *without inflicting any life-threatening injury* tends to negate an inference of subjective knowledge of life endangerment; it does not support a reasonable inference that when Cravens punched Kauanui in the face, he subjectively knew he was endangering Kauanui's life." (Opn., p. 34, italics in original.)

In addition, as did the People at trial and during appeal, respondent here wastes no opportunity to assert the victim was subject to some kind of group attack before appellant punched him.⁴ (See, e.g., PTR pp. 3, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13.) There was clearly a fight between Eric House and victim Kauanui that resulted in the loss of House's tooth, a continuation of the spat over the earlier spilled beer at the La Jolla Brew House. (6 RT 248-251; 14 RT 1601-1602.) At trial, however, the People presented diametrically opposing testimony regarding whether any group attack occurred. Jennifer Grosso, the victim's girlfriend who was present in the thick of things and knew the participants, testified to a one-on-one fight between House and Kauanui, following which Kauanui approached appellant and appellant hit him. (6 RT 248-251, 256-257.) The prosecutor even vouched for Grosso's testimony during argument to the jury: "Jenny Grosso. Her testimony is 100 percent corroborated for every aspect of it." (16 RT 1894.) Other prosecution witnesses, especially a neighbor viewing the scene from across the street in poor lighting, claimed otherwise. (6 RT 341, 343, 362-363; 7 RT 387-388.)

But it matters not, because what respondent omits is that even if there was some kind of group assault on Kauanui that preceded

⁴Given this emphasis, it is surely remarkable that in their change of plea forms, none of appellant's friends present that evening--with the exception of the toothless Eric House--admitted so much as touching Emery Kauanui. (2 CT 318-330.)

appellant's throwing the punch, it was so inconsequential it left absolutely no physical evidence. Other than the fatal wound resulting from the impact of his skull on the sidewalk, the victim's other injuries consisted only of minor scrapes and abrasions (13 RT 1433-1437)--the result of rolling around in the street, shirtless and in shorts, during the fight with Housethat were described by the pathologist as "medically trivial" or "medically insignificant" (13 RT 1439, 1474). Common sense dictates any kind of "group beating" worthy of the term, especially by young men, all of them former football players, would leave evidence along the lines of cracked ribs or internal bleeding, or at the very least severe bruising. Respondent would no doubt prefer this court believe the Court of Appeal ignored evidence appellant administered the coup de grace to a virtually helpless victim (see, e.g., PTR p. 12), but the reality is the victim had just triumphed in another fight and felt emboldened enough to approach and swear at appellant, who then hit him a single time.

Which brings us to more factual omissions in the petition, important because they belie respondent's insistence on the alleged overwhelming force with which appellant hit Kauanui. (PTR pp. 4, 7-8, 10, 12.) It has been uncontroverted during these proceedings that appellant, who was right-handed, delivered the punch with his non-dominant left hand. (6 RT

290; 14 RT 1657.) It has also been uncontroverted that the pathologist could not even tell on which side of the face the victim had been punched. (13 RT 1475.) These facts--and they are facts, not opinions--rationally imply Kauanui's death was a freak result of the punch appellant threw at him; it was not the impact of appellant's fist that killed Emery Kauanui, but the impact with the sidewalk when Kauanui fell. That several of the other assaults took place on a concrete surface without any further substantial injury (counts 7, 10, 11) only underscores that appellant was not consciously disregarding the possibility of the victim's death when he hit him.

And, as did the People during trial and on appeal, respondent here makes much of appellant's statements before and after several of the assaults, including the fatal one: "Along with these attacks came words that indicated Cravens intended to do serious harm to people or even kill them." (PTR p. 1); "Appellant would curse and yell 'I'm going to kill you."" (PTR p. 2); "The next day, appellant laughed about Kauanui's situation and boasted that he had knocked him out with one punch and put him to sleep." (PTR p. 4.) For better or worse, however, the hyperbolic use of terms like "kill" or "murder" is part of everyday language. And, in any event, the actual statements appellant made and the circumstances under which they

were made, belie any sinister interpretation:

- Erik Wright--not appellant--threatened to "fucking kill" Eric
 Sorensen in count 1. (10 RT 915.) Appellant was convicted of aiding and abetting a criminal threat, and did not touch Sorensen.
- 2) During the party crashing attempt on New Year's Eve in count 7, Logan Henry said appellant ""looked me in the face and told me that he was going to F'ing kill me, F'ing kill me." Henry told appellant to "Do it, you know. Bring it." Appellant did nothing. (11 RT 1141, 1149.)
- 3) Two days after the assault on Michael Johnson in count 11, appellant sent a MySpace message reading: "What the fuck. When are we going to chill. I can't go to the Shack for a while because I murdered someone. Ha, ha, ha, ha, No biggie. Call me up and let's get krunk [sic]⁵." (13 RT 1419.) Appellant obviously had not murdered Johnson; the worst he had done is possibly broken his nose.
- 4) When Nicole Sparks called Hank Hendricks the day after appellant hit Kauanui to find out what had happened, she heard appellant, who was driving with Hendricks, say, "We put him to sleep." (9 RT 693-694.) Sparks did not know Kauanui was in the hospital, nor was the

⁵"Krunk" probably means "crazy drunk." (www.urbandictionary. com/define.php?term=krunk.)

hospital mentioned during the conversation. (9 RT 698.) Around the same time--it is unclear whether before or after the call with Sparks--Kristin Link told appellant Kauanui was still in the hospital and appellant began crying. (9 RT 675-676.)

D. Conclusion to Answer

"Inquiry into the substantiality of the evidence . . . is a principal appellate function as is inquiry into other claims of error." (*People v. Roehler* (1985) 167 Cal.App.3d 353, 358.) On appeal, appellant asked the Court of Appeal to review whether there had been sufficient evidence presented of implied malice, meaning whether there was any credible evidence that when he threw the single punch at Emery Kauanui with his non-dominant hand, he consciously disregarded the possibility Kauanui might die. Employing the correct legal standards, the Court of Appeal reviewed the evidence and concluded there was none. Because this conclusion was the correct one, and respondent has proffered no valid legal or factual reason to the contrary, appellant submits this court should deny respondent's petition for review.

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL ISSUES SHOULD REVIEW BE GRANTED

Appellant is not asking this court to grant review of his case. If, however, the court does so, appellant would ask the court to consider these additional issues pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(a)(2).

A. Whether Appellant's Conviction Should Have Been Reduced to Involuntary Rather Than Voluntary Manslaughter

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